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AD 697


ETHELDREDA:


BORN A PRINCESS,


DIED A SAINT


ETHELDREDA’S BODY HAD lain buried for seventeen years when in c. AD 697 Wilfred and her physician Cynefrid witnessed her exhumation. What they saw astonished them. Her body was not only completely intact, with not a sign of decay, but the tumour on her neck, from which she had died, was completely healed. This was a miracle befitting a saint.


Etheldreda, also known as Audrey, was born into the East Anglian royal family. Her father was King Anna, whose seat was at Exning, but whose kingdom encompassed Cambridge. Married twice but always a virgin, she left her second husband to found a monastery at Ely in AD 673. With her small convent of nuns she restored an old church, reputedly destroyed by Penda, pagan king of the Mercians, and built her monastery on the site of what is now Ely Cathedral. After its restoration in AD 970 by Ethelwold it became the richest abbey in England, second only to Glastonbury, and around it the prosperous city of Ely, with its market and fair, grew.
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A Victorian view of Saint Etheldreda. (THP)


In around AD 680 Etheldreda died from a tumour on the neck. This was reputedly a divine punishment for her vanity in wearing necklaces in her younger days. In reality it was the result of the plague, which also killed several of her nuns, who included amongst their number her sisters and nieces. In her memory at the annual St Audrey’s Fair in Ely, held on 23 June, necklaces of silk and lace were sold. These were often of very inferior quality, hence the derivation of the word tawdry from St Audrey.




IRON AGE GIANTS
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According to ancient tradition, the two giants, Magog and Gog, are buried in the hills south-east of Cambridge, and that a golden chariot was buried in a tumulus called Mutlow Hill.


Although such traditions are easy to dismiss as flights of fancy, in this case it is known that until the early eighteenth century there was, carved into the turf, the figure of a giant. Later in the eighteenth century all trace of the figures was lost when trees were planted over the site.


In the 1950s, archaeologist T.C. Lethbridge led an investigation of the site in an attempt to rediscover the carvings and shed light on the legend. Using a sounding bar he systematically tested the chalk hill and claimed to have rediscovered a carving of Epona, the Celtic horse goddess. He pronounced that the three-breasted goddess travelled across the side of Gog Magog with her beaked horse. To one side was a carving of a warrior equipped with a sword and shield, and to the other a curious figure wearing a cloak. He thought that the central figure had been made by the Iron Age tribe of the Iceni, famous for their leader Boudicca, who valiantly led the resistance against the Roman army. This central figure represented the Magog, or Mother Goddess, known to the Celts as Epona. The other two figures are slightly later in date, and were added by the incoming Catuvellauni tribe.


Standing 240ft (75m) high, the hill commands views of the region, and for this reason was chosen as the location for the construction of a fortress, built during the Iron Age. The oldest recorded activity is in 1574 when it was decreed by the university ‘that no scholar of what degree soever he be, shall resort or go to any play or game either kept at Gog-Magog Hills or elsewhere within five miles of Cambridge’.
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On finding that her exhumed body, and the linen shroud wrapped around her, were as fresh as the day of her funeral, she was declared a saint. A simple wooden coffin no longer sufficed for such a worthy person, and so the monks from her abbey procured a sarcophagus from the Roman cemetery on the edge of Cambridge at Grantchester. This was brought down the river to Ely where she was reburied with great ceremony; the fate of the original Roman occupier of the stone coffin is not recorded.


St Etheldreda’s shrine was a site of pilgrimage until 1541, when it was cruelly destroyed. It had been thought that the story ended here, but in 1811 her hand was discovered, hidden away, near Arundel. Clearly, clergy had got wind of the impending iconoclasm, and took steps to preserve what they could of the saint. Her hand now resides in the Roman Catholic church of St Etheldreda, Ely, where presumably it will rest until a shrine befitting her importance is reconstructed in the cathedral.




AD 1010


VANQUISHED BY THE VIKINGS


IN 1010 IT is recorded that Cambridge was looted and completely burned to the ground by Viking raiders. This was particularly harsh as the town had, perhaps unwillingly, played host to the Danish army for a whole year in AD 870. The Anglo-Saxon Chronicles records that the Viking army led by kings Godrum, Oscytel and Anwynd also passed through Grantebrycge, the old name for Cambridge, in spring AD 874, after they had wintered at Repton. ‘Passing through’ sounds innocuous, but the reality was that each visit required the townspeople to feed and supply the army – a significant burden, especially when they chose to stay a whole year.
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Vikings invading; the Danes sacked the city in 1010. (THP)





The town’s attraction lay partly in its strategic location, as a major crossing point across the River Cam (formerly known as the Granta). The Anglo-Saxon Chronicles tells us that the wooden bridge was built by King Offa (AD 756–793) when the town was known foremost as a port. Just a few years after the Vikings had passed through Cambridge they returned to settle. In some documents they are referred to as Irish merchants, which implies that they had come from Dublin, which was a major Viking port and settlement.


In AD 921 the townspeople swore allegiance to the English king, Edward the Elder, which subsequently helped earn it the right to mint coins and act as the local administrative centre. This tranquil scene was marred by a final Danish raid in 1010 when the town was looted and burnt. At this time if not all, then all but a few, buildings were constructed from wood, which would easily have burned in a fire. The town was defended by a ditch and bank, topped with a wooden palisade. This would have offered some protection, but again, its wooden construction rendered it susceptible to the enemy’s torch.
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On the river: the River Cam opposite King’s, showing barges towed by horses.
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A coin of Edward the Elder; he gave Cambridge the right to run its own mint here. (THP)


By the time of the Domesday Book in 1086, Cambridge probably had a population of about 2,000. By the standards of the time it was a medium-sized town. Later in the Middle Ages the population of Cambridge probably rose to about 3,000.




AD 1199–1211


FIRE, DEATH AND MURDER AT THE FAIRS


FIRE! FIRE!’ RANG out the cry amongst the crowd. In a state of confusion, people started to push towards the exits. Performers called for calm from the stage, but another cry of ‘Fire!’ put paid to that. Managers standing in the auditorium tried to reassure the audience that there was no fire, but they were in no mood to take any chances and continued to squeeze towards the narrow doors of the Stourbridge Fair Theatre. People in the upper boxes and gallery feared they would be trapped and began to attempt to climb down into the pit; some made it safely, whilst others fell on the way down, many were injured. As the weight of people pressing to get out increased, people began to panic, and three children, Esther Cook aged 12, Mary Freeman aged 13 and John Smith aged 14 were trampled to death along with Rose Mason, aged 24. To compound the tragedy, there never had been a fire. Instead, a gang of thieves had cried ‘fire’ in order to upset the audience, thus creating an opportunity for them to pickpocket in the confusion. Realising that their plan had gone badly awry, they slipped away amongst the crowd, and despite a reward of 100 guineas being posted on 29 September 1803, they were never identified.
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King John first granted the right to hold the three-day-long Stourbridge Fair in 1199 in order to raise money to support the patients of the Leper Hospital of St Mary Magdalene. (THP)





Stourbridge Fair dates to 1199, when King John granted the Leper Hospital of St Mary Magdalene at ‘Steresbrigge’ in Cambridge a dispensation to hold a three-day fair in order to raise money to support the lepers. The fair was held between 12 and 14 September each year on the open land of Stourbridge Common beside the River Cam. Over the years it was gradually extended until it lasted three weeks.


Variously known as ‘Stirbitch’, ‘Sturbritch’ and latterly ‘Stourbridge’, the fair began with a proclamation. Alderman Newton records in his diary for 1668 that this was a convivial process. The aldermen and councillors gathered at the house of the alderman elected to be mayor for the forthcoming year. There they enjoyed sugar cakes, washed down with a glass of ‘sack’ (Spanish white wine). They then all rode to the fairground where the proclamation was read, before the party retired to the Guildhall. Again more sack and cakes were enjoyed, before everyone returned to the mayor-elect’s house for a lavish dinner consisting of:





2 dishes of boyled chickens then a leg of mutton boyled, then a peece of rost beefe, then a mutton pasty, then a glass of Clarett round, then 2 couple of rebbetts, 2 couple of small wildfoule, and 2 dishes of tarts 3 in a dish.





Sixty years later the procession of aldermen and councillors had expanded so that in 1727 it consisted of, in order:





The Crier in Scarlet on horseback.


28 petty Constables on foot.


Three Drums.


Banners and Streamers.


The grand Marshal.


Two Trumpets.


The Town Music (12 in number).


Two French Horns.


The Bellman in state with the stand on Horseback.


Four Serjeants at Mace on Horseback.


The Mayor in his robes mounted on a Horse richly caparisoned, led by two footmen called redcoats with white wands.


The two representatives in Parliament on Horseback.


Twelve Aldermen according to seniority on Horseback (three and three) in their proper robes, the six seniors having their horses attended by as many Henchmen or redcoats with wands.


The Twenty four Common Councilmen three and three according to seniority.


Eight Dispencers in their Gowns (two and two).


Four Bailiffs in their habits (two and two).


The Gentlemen and Tradesmen of the Town.





Given this expansion it is not surprising that after 1758 the procession was curtailed, ‘owing it is said to the trouble and charge of keeping it in a suitable condition’. However, it seems that the aldermen were happy to continue the age-old custom of feasting. Henry Gunning’s description of the 1789 proclamation describes how, after mulled wine, sherry and cakes in the Senate House, ‘the Vice-Chancellor, Bedells, Proctors, Taxors and the Commissary and others rode in carriages to the fair, where the Registrary read the proclamation, which was repeated by the Yeoman Bedell in three different places’. After this they retired to the ‘Tiled Booth’ (known later as the ‘Oyster House’), passing through an upper room to the ‘University Dining Room’. Here they were joined by numbers of Masters of Arts ‘who had come for the express purpose of eating oysters. This was a very serious part of the day’s proceedings and occupied a long time’. With barely a pause for breath this lavish lunch was followed shortly after by a lavish dinner:
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